
 

 

 Three Rivers House 
Northway 

Rickmansworth 
Herts WD3 1RL 

 

CONNECTING THREE RIVERS 
(FORMERLY LOCAL STRATEGIC 
PARTNERSHIP AND COMMUNITY 

SAFETY BOARD) 
 

NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

For a meeting to be held on Thursday, 25 September 2025 at 10.00 am at Penn Chamber, Three 
Rivers House, Rickmansworth. 
 
Members of the Connecting Three Rivers (formerly Local Strategic Partnership and Community 
Safety Board):- 
 
Councillors: 
 

 

Stephen Giles-Medhurst OBE (Chair)   
Sarah Nelmes 
Steve Drury 

 
 

  

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive   
17 September 2025 

 
1.   WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS & APOLOGIES   

 
 

2.   MINUTES AND ACTIONS FROM THE PREVIOUS 
CONNECTING THREE RIVERS MEETING   
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

3.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 
 
Presentation by the Head of Strategy and Partnerships 
 

 

4.   LOCAL PLAN 
 
Presentation by the Head of Planning Policy and 
Conservation 
 

 

5.   ENERGY SUPPLY IN THREE RIVERS 
 
Presentation by the Climate Change, Sustainability, and 
Recycling Officer 
 

 

6.   LOCAL CRIME TRENDS - PRIORITIES AND 
ENGAGEMENT 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

Presentation by the Inspector from Hertfordshire 
Constabulary 
 

7.   POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER UPDATE 
 
Presentation by a Police Officer from the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire 
 
 

(Pages 13 - 20) 

8.   COUNTY COMMUNITY SAFETY UNIT 
 
Presentation by the Programme Manager from the County 
Community Safety Unit, Community Protection Directorate, 
Hertfordshire County Council   
 

(Pages 21 - 24) 

9.   CONNECTING THREE RIVERS FUND UPDATE 
 
Presentation by the Partnerships & Inclusion Manager 
 

 

10.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 

 

11.   NEXT MEETING DATES 
 
11 December 2025 
18 March 2026 
 

 

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at 
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk 

Page 2

mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk


  

 
Three Rivers House 

Northway 
Rickmansworth 
Herts WD3 1RL 

 

 

Connecting Three Rivers (formerly Local Strategic Partnership 
and Community Safety Board) 

MINUTES 
 

Of a meeting held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, Rickmansworth, on 
Wednesday, 18 June 2025 from 10.25 am - 12.00 pm. 
 
Present: Councillors      
 
Sarah Nelmes (Chair) 
Steve Drury 
 
TRDC Officers in attendance: 
 
Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive 
Kimberley Grout, Associate Director – Corporate, Customer & Community 
Rebecca Young, Head of Strategy & Partnerships 
Shivani Davé, Partnerships & Inclusion Manager 
Jemma Duffell, Community Safety Officer & Deputy Prevent Lead  
Michelle Wright, Community Safety & Safeguarding Manager, Prevent Lead 
Anita Hibbs, Committee Officer 
 
External attendance: 
 
Danielle Levy, Herts MIND Network 
Peta Mettam, Citizens Advice Service Three Rivers 
Kio Bozorgi, Hertfordshire Constabulary 
Amanda Burfot, Integrated Care Board, NHS 
Keith Harland, Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service 
Jonathan Ash-Edwards, Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
Michael Nadasdy, County Community Safety Unit 
Lucy Nicolson-James, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Bob Jones, Watford & Three Rivers Trust 
Enoch Kanagaraj, One Vision 
Paraic McKenna, Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) 
Peter Cogan, Watford Community Housing  
Elizabeth Borg, Community Learning Partnership 
Shirish Chauhan, Three Rivers Chamber 
Clive Saunders, Watford African Caribbean Association 
Stephanie Villeneuva, Hertfordshire County Council, (HCC) 
Paul Richmond, Thrive Homes 
Brad Hughes, SW Herts Secondary Schools 
Rob Smith, Watford FC, Community Sports and Education Trust 
Kerrie Marks, Watford Borough Council, (WBC) 
Janie Cresser, Home Group 
Tamara Valmas, Home Group 
Sarah Perman, Hertfordshire County Council, (HCC) 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 
10 WELCOME  
 

i. Changes to membership, introduction and apologies 
 

Attendees were welcomed to the meeting and introduced themselves. 
 

ii. Minutes and actions from the previous meeting  
 

The Partnerships & Inclusion Manager confirmed that actions from the previous 
meeting had been completed and thanked everyone involved. 
 
The minutes of the Connecting Three Rivers meeting, held on 19 March 2025 were 
confirmed as a correct record. 

 
 

11 LOCAL GOVERNMENT RE-ORGANISATION  
 
The Chief Executive provided a detailed briefing on the current status and future plans 
regarding devolution and local government reorganisation in Hertfordshire. 
 
The following questions were asked and responses provided regarding the briefing: 
 

1. Consultation process and impact on police 
 

While details about police reorganisation remain unclear, the government has started a 
formal consultation with local stakeholders, and communities expected to provide 
input. The example of Surrey, which has already initiated its consultation, was 
mentioned. It was emphasised that despite consultation, the establishment of mayoral 
units must go ahead with no option for local authorities to remain as they are currently. 
Collaboration among districts, boroughs, counties and key officials is ongoing, to 
manage this transition. 
 
The Police Crime Commissioner provided a response in relation to the impact on 
police, explaining that currently, policing is organised around 10 district boundaries, 
which have effectively served the community. However, there is an expectation that 
these boundaries will realign to match local authority partnerships, although no 
immediate changes are planned. The government’s White Paper emphasises aligning 
mayoral authority boundaries with police and fire and rescue boundaries, granting 
mayors combined responsibilities in areas where these boundaries coincide. While 
Hertfordshire is not currently affected by boundary misalignments, the expectation is 
that such alignment will become standard practice. There are significant challenges 
ahead as nearly all local government services and structures will be reorganised over 
the next three years. This process will require careful management to maintain service 
delivery while adapting to new governance models. 
 

2. Clarification on the proposed reorganisation of local government structures in 
Hertfordshire 

 
Currently, Hertfordshire consists of 10 districts and boroughs alongside the County 
Council.  The proposal is to consolidate these districts and boroughs into two, three or 
four larger organisational units that would manage all existing services. The 
reorganisation aims to realign service delivery boundaries, with a focus on practicality 
and efficiency. As an example; it is likely that the closely linked local authorities of 
Watford and Three Rivers would be merged into a single unit. The County Council’s 
services would also be redistributed to align with these new geographical boundaries, 
ensuring that each new organisation covers all relevant services within its area. 

 

Page 4



 

3. Integrating grassroots organisations such as the VCFSE into local governance 
structures during the local government reorganisation 

 
There is uncertainty around the stakeholder and community work stream’s plans but 
there is willingness to facilitate greater involvement and input from grassroots groups. 
The government aims to maintain local delivery through local area committees, despite 
the challenge of representing a large population of 1.5 million people.  

 
4. Dividing a population of approximately 1.2 – 1.5 million people into unitary authorities 
 

It is noted that two unitary authorities might be too large, while three might be slightly 
small currently, but could become appropriate within 5 years. Various configurations 
were discussed, including combing Watford and Three Rivers with neighbouring areas 
like Dacorum, St Albans and Hertsmere to achieve suitable population sizes. Political 
considerations and natural geographic and community boundaries play a significant 
role in these deliberations, with specific mention of joint strategic planning partnerships 
and new developments such as Hemel Garden Village influencing the logic of 
boundaries. The complexity of political representation was acknowledged, with 
concerns about the reduced number of Councillors in unitary authorities and the need 
to maintain effective representation for residents. No final decisions have been made 
yet, and lessons will be drawn from other counties like Surrey and Hampshire that 
have undergone similar reorganisations. It was suggested that regular updates can be 
provided to the group to gather feedback as a potential option to improve 
communication and project progress. 

 
5. Ensuring Equality Impact Assessments in the local government reorganisation 
 

The importance of conducting equality impact assessments was highlighted, 
emphasising the need for thorough evaluation in a large organisational project such as 
the local government reorganisation. Officers acknowledged the necessity of including 
equality impact assessments as part of business cases submitted by individual 
councils, with a final consolidated assessment expected in the upcoming November 
submission. It was noted that all council papers, regardless of the subject, routinely 
include equality impact assessments alongside legal and financial considerations. 

 
6. Funding for third sector organisations and how they might be affected in the future 

 
It was acknowledged that the exact impact has not yet been fully worked through, but 
grants given directly to third parties may be routed through different organisations. 
Discretionary grants will be subject to decisions by new organisations based on their 
financial positions and the services provided. This may appear bleak, but the Council 
will strive to maintain existing payments and costs within its budget. However, after the 
transition date of 1 April 2028, decisions will ultimately rest with the new authority. 
 

12 POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER  
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) provided an update on his role, strategic priorities 
and achievement in policing in the community. The PCC’s role is strategic, focusing on setting 
priorities, accountability, budget management and commissioning community safety services. 
Over the past year, the PCC has appointed a new Chief Constable, and published a police 
and crime plan with 5 key priorities; making Hertfordshire safer through crime prevention, 
strengthening local policing and public confidence, tackling neighbourhood crime and 
antisocial behaviour (with a focus on burglary in areas like Three Rivers), protecting 
vulnerable groups from violence and exploitation, and bringing offenders to justice, while 
supporting victims. Initiative such as Operation Hotspot have successfully reduced crime and 
antisocial behaviour by 14.5% in targeted hotspots. The PCC highlighted efforts to increase 
neighbourhood policing with additional officers and PCSOs, improve police visibility, and 
launch partnership programmes targeting town centre safety and retail crime reduction, 

Page 5



 

including shoplifting and assaults on retail workers. The overarching goals are to reduce 
crime, solve more cases, and enhance community trust through visible policing and 
collaborative efforts. 
 

 
13 COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP  
 
The Community Safety & Safeguarding Manager provided and update on Prevent, Youth 
Action Panel and Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs). 
 

i. Prevent 
 
The Prevent Strategy is a key priority and highlights the Prevent Delivery Plan, a living 
document supported by Hertfordshire County Council (HCC), which guides local 
partnership actions on awareness, concerns and reporting. Training sessions for staff 
and partners were conducted last year, with continued opportunities planned. 
Significant updates include the introduction of the new Prevent National Referral form 
and legislative changes reflected on the Council’s website. The officer mentioned a 
major legislative development which is the Terrorism Protection of Premises Act 2025 
(Martyn’s Law), which mandates enhanced security and preparedness at certain 
venues and events to mitigate terrorist threats. The Community Safety team intends to 
collaborate with local venues to ensure compliance and readiness under this new law. 
 
In response to a question raised regarding the possibility of conducting a risk 
assessment related to the recent developments in the police, the officer responded by 
indicating the need to consult with HCC, after which she will be able to provide 
feedback on the matter. – Action Michelle Wright. 

 
ii. Youth Action Panel 

 

Following the end of funding for the ‘No More Service’, previously managed by 

Stevenage Borough Council and funded by the OPCC, Three Rivers District Council 

and Watford Borough Council have collaborated to continue critical support for youths 

and their families. This initiative targets young people identified as at risk or involved in 

crime, exploitation, drug dealing, and antisocial behaviour. A multi-agency approach is 

employed to manage individuals who are perpetrators, victims or at risk. Referrals can 

be made through the Council’s website either via self-referral, by family members, 

educational institutions, police or partner agencies. A monthly case assessment group 

determines actions to support these youths. Despite limited resources, the initiative 

relies on committed groups from youth services, health, and education sectors. 

 

iii. Police Community Support Officers 

 

Three Rivers District Council has confirmed its continued commitment to community 

safety by funding the four PCSOs, contributing to a total of twelve PCSOs operating 

across the district. These uniformed officers maintain a visible presence through 

regular foot patrols, aiming to deter antisocial behaviour and reduce crime. The 

PCSOs work collaboratively with the OPCC and Hertfordshire Constabulary as part of 

the community safety partnership. The Council funds these PCSOs directly, who play a 

vital role in the district; ensuring that residents, workers and visitors feel safe and 

supported. 

 

iv. CCTV 

 
Community Safety Officer provided an update on the nine new CCTV cameras funded 
through CIL application. The locations for these cameras were carefully selected 

Page 6



 

based on police data, partner input, and site visits across various parts of Three 
Rivers, including Prestwick Road where a replacement camera will be installed, 
Hayling Road and Otley Way in South Oxhey, with new cameras installed. There will 
also be new cameras in Delta Gain and at the South Way junction of Furtherfield in 
Abbots Langley. Furthermore, there will be a replacement camera at the junction 
between Langley Road and Abbots High Street, a new camera at Catherine Place 
shopping parade, a replacement camera at Rickmansworth High Street and a new 
camera at King George V recreational ground in Mill End. The new cameras are twin 
cameras, allowing for zoning of views, which is an upgrade from the previous single 
cameras. Public consultations with affected residents and businesses have been 
completed positively, with some expressing enthusiasm for the new cameras. 
Electrical testing and column placements have been finalised. The project, spanning 
19 months, is nearing completion, with the final step being confirmation of installation 
dates, which involves coordinating road closures and traffic management to ensure 
safe installation. Once installed, the cameras will be activated within hours to help 
detect crime and antisocial behaviour as intended. 
 
In response to a question regarding the cameras, the officer clarified that originally, 
there were six cameras, and the number of cameras has now increased to nine, with 
the three brand new cameras. All cameras are movable and redeployable.  
 

14 COUNTY COMMUNITY SAFETY UNIT  
 
Michael Nadasdy from the County Community Safety Unit (CCSU) provided an update 
highlighting several key initiatives and recent developments. The Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) on child exploitation has been finalised and its recommendations 
approved, aimed at organisations managing children and young people at risk. Recent 
assessment on mental health, wellbeing and co-occurring substance use have informed 
Hertfordshire’s new Drug and Alcohol Strategy, which includes a dedicated 12-month project 
addressing substance use and mental health. A briefing on ketamine-related harms, especially 
among young people, was released due to rising treatment presentations. Since October 
2020, over 10,000 drug tests on arrest have been conducted to encourage treatment for 
substance users and reduce crime, with a focus on shoplifting. The CCSU is leading 
enforcement efforts against cuckooing, collaborating with local inspectors and community 
safety managers to standardise approaches based on safeguarding guidelines. The 2024 drug 
and alcohol deaths audit is completed and available upon request. Additionally, a new Hate 
Crime Partnership Board has been established with training planned for third-party reporting 
centres, and organisations are invited to participate. Updates on bids for tackling serious 
violence were also shared. 
 
In response to a question raised regarding the scope and limitations of the drug test and arrest 
programme; the speaker advised that the programme focuses specifically on acquisitive 
crimes related to the use of crack cocaine and opiates, excluding alcohol from its testing 
because alcohol consumption is legal and does not have the same legal levers for 
enforcement as illegal drugs. While alcohol can be a potential cause behind offending 
behaviour, it is not directly tested under this Home Office scheme. However, drug workers 
from commissioned services are available in custody to perform triage and refer individuals 
suspected of having alcohol problems to appropriate treatment services.  
 
Furthermore, the speaker highlighted a critical update regarding the increasing risk of 
synthetic opioids, particularly fentanyl overdoses in Hertfordshire. A recent suspected fentanyl 
overdose in Watford resulted in on death and one near-fatality, prompting and imminent drug 
alert. The speaker emphasised the inevitability of more such incidents occurring locally with 
opioid users or individuals involved in drug use to raise awareness about the dangers of 
synthetic opioids. The speaker recommended utilising the local drug information system to 
report and share intelligence on contaminated or high-strength drugs, facilitating county-wide 
tracking and analysis. The speaker offered support for organisations unfamiliar with the 
system and encouraged communication to enhance community safety and response. 

Page 7



 

 
15 COMMUNITY STRATEGY  
 
The Partnerships & Inclusion Manager provided an update on the 2024-25 Community 
Strategy Action Plan, 2024-25 Fund report and Workshop. 
 

i. 2024-25 Community Strategy Action Plan  
 
The officer highlighted the extensive partnership efforts and accomplishments over the 
past year, encouraging dissemination of the strategy details among the group, 
communities and services. Key themes discussed include the economy, where 
engagement with local businesses fell short of expectations, and environmental and 
community safety initiatives that showed significant progress. Efforts under the 
‘Belonging’ theme included attempts to secure funding for sustainable community 
hubs, although initial funding applications were unsuccessful, ongoing work continues 
through the Health Hub workstream with confirmed funding for the next three years.  
 

ii. 2024-25 Fund report 
 
Funding was distributed to four organisations, with three having completed their 
projects, and one, the Crucial Crew event scheduled for early July. The current fund for 
2025-26 stands at £10,000, with contributions from organisations such as Three Rivers 
District Council, Home Group and Thrive, and potential support from Watford 
Community Housing. The officer highlighted ongoing fundraising efforts for the next 
funding round, encouraging partners, local communities, and businesses to participate 
in fundraising activities like quizzes or events to support future applications and 
initiatives. 
 

iii. Workshop 
 
The group participated in a slido Q&A exercise. 
 

16 PUBLIC HEALTH  
 
Sarah Perman, Director of Public Health, HCC presented an overview of the current public 
health landscape, highlighting the newly launched business plan and the impact of local 
government reforms. The speaker emphasised the use of data from the Herts’ Evidence 
website to identify key priorities such as addressing health inequalities, life expectancy gaps 
due to circulatory diseases and COVID-19, and tackling obesity across all age groups. The 
presentation outlined the mandated public health functions now sitting within local 
government, the range of services provided, including NHS health checks, sexual health, 
smoking cessation, weight management, and drug and alcohol recovery. The speaker also 
described the integration of strategic partnerships, focusing on homelessness and domestic 
abuse, and the collaboration with district councils on initiatives like the Health Hub. 
Furthermore, the speaker detailed the organisational structure, reporting to the Chief Fire 
Officer, and the team’s composition of approximately 130 staff. The funding model was 
explained as a ring fenced grant from the Department of Health and Social Care, totalling 
around £54 million annually, largely contracted to NHS providers. Current priorities include 
developing drugs and alcohol delivery plan, transforming health visiting and school nursing 
services with a focus on family support, and adopting national health protection changes such 
as the introduction of a new gonorrhoea vaccine. Throughout the presentation the emphasis 
was on maintaining prevention duties despite financial challenges and fostering partnerships 
to improve public health outcomes. 
 
Responding to a question the speaker talked about a three-year funding programme called 
Prevention and Health Inequalities Programme (PHIP), funded by public health grant reserves 
aimed at supporting local organisations to focus on early help, prevention and reducing health 
inequalities. The programme targets three main themes; aging well, health weight and 

Page 8



 

economic inactivity due to ill health. The first phase has concluded with impressive proposals 
from various organisations, some advancing to the next stage. The speaker also highlighted 
ongoing uncertainties regarding local government reorganisation and devolution but confirmed 
that public health responsibilities and mandated services will remain with unitary local 
authorities under current legislation. The speaker emphasised potential opportunities for public 
health to support broader functions such as skills, employment, transport, housing and 
strategic planning, aiming for more integrated health considerations at the mayoral and 
strategic authority levels. 
 
A further question was raised on mental health, whether it featured in the priority. The Director 
of Public Health explained that HCC has a dedicated team addressing mental health across all 
age groups, with key initiatives including a multi-agency suicide prevention board and a Real 
Time Suicide Surveillance System that tracks suicides and attempts to identify emerging 
patters for timely intervention. They collaborate with community organisations such as 
Hector’s House and the OLLIE Foundation (One Life Lost is Enough) to deliver targeted 
programmes and provide long-term suicide bereavement support for affected families and 
friends. Beyond suicide prevention, there is a strategic shift towards enhancing public mental 
health by fostering community resilience and supporting children and young people, especially 
within schools. Initiatives include a pastoral network of teachers focused on mental health 
needs and exploring the role of school nurses through health service procurement to better 
support youth mental health. 
 
The discussion also focused on the importance of the third sector in addressing health 
inequalities and delivering public health services. The critical role of local voluntary 
organisations was highlighted in reaching diverse communities that broader county-wide 
initiatives may not effectively engage. The conversation highlighted existing partnerships with 
voluntary groups across Hertfordshire, including their involvement in programme development, 
co-production efforts in areas such as domestic abuse, homelessness and substance abuse, 
and the inclusion of individuals with lived experience to inform public health strategies. There 
is a clear intent to increase financial support for the voluntary sector by shifting funding from 
public health grants to these organisations through multi-year contracts like the Prevention 
and Investment Fund. 
 
Bob Jones from Watford and Three Rivers Trust raised concerns about preserving the 
voluntary sector, especially as many voluntary groups are structured around existing district 
and boroughs. The proposed move to fewer unitary authorities could require significant 
restructuring of voluntary organisations, potentially disrupting both formal and informal 
community groups. The speaker highlighted ongoing discussions and collaborations with local 
groups and charities, encouraging voluntary sector members to engage with forums such as 
the Herts Community Leaders Forum and attend upcoming meetings. There is particular worry 
about the informal voluntary sector at the neighbourhood level, which may face challenges in 
maintaining connections with statutory bodies under the new structure.  
 
The importance of considering the voluntary sector in the reorganisation process is 
emphasised, with assurance that it remains a priority for local government planning. 

 
17 ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
None 

 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   
 

From the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Policy Team 

Overview 

Police & Crime Plan: Fighting Crime, Making Hertfordshire Safer  

Police & Crime Commissioner Jonathan Ash-Edwards continues to deliver against the five 

strategic priorities set out in his Police & Crime Plan: 

1. Make Hertfordshire safer 

2. Strengthen local policing and build public confidence 

3. Tackle crime and anti-social behaviour 

4. Protect people from violence, abuse and exploitation 

5. Bring offenders to justice and support victims 

The Plan reflects public feedback and sets clear performance expectations for Hertfordshire 

Constabulary. It also commits to innovation, partnership working, and targeted investment 

to address emerging threats and community concerns. 

 

Neighbourhood Policing and Visibility 

Neighbourhood policing remains central to the PCC’s strategy. Recent developments include: 

• £3 million in Government funding secured to recruit 35 additional police 

officers and 20 PCSOs, enhancing coverage in every district and borough. 

• These officers will support high-visibility patrols, proactive engagement, and local 

problem-solving. 

• The PCC has reaffirmed the Neighbourhood Policing Guarantee, ensuring every 

community has a named, contactable officer. 

• During Neighbourhood Policing Week, the PCC joined patrols and 

launched Community Engagement Panels to scrutinise local policing plans and 

ensure community voices are heard. 

• Public survey results show 88% feel safe, but 70% want more visible policing—a key 

driver of current investment. 

 

Safer Town Centres and Public Spaces 

The Summer Town Centres for Hertfordshire campaign (June - September 2025) is a major 

initiative to improve safety and confidence in public spaces: 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   
• Builds on the success of Operation Hotspot, which delivered 26,000+ patrol 

hours and reduced crime and ASB by 14.5%. 

• Patrols extended to Cassiobury Park (Watford) and Hartham Common (Hertford) to 

address seasonal footfall and park-related ASB. 

• Focus areas include: 

• Retail crime and shoplifting 

• Street drinking, graffiti, and illicit goods 

• Protection of vulnerable individuals, especially women and girls 

• Road safety (e.g. e-scooters, antisocial motorcycle use) 

• Grant funding available to councils, BIDs, and community groups to support local 

crime prevention initiatives. 

• Residents invited to shape the programme via a public survey: Summer Town Centres 

Survey 

 

Safer Streets Projects 

Two major Safer Streets projects have recently concluded: 

Hatfield 

• Targeted hotspot areas with multi-agency interventions. 

• Delivered: 

• 12% reduction in ASB 

• Over 1,000 extra patrols via Operation Oarlock 

• Upgraded CCTV and new street lighting 

• Environmental improvements to footpaths and alleyways 

• Garage defenders for motorbike/scooter owners 

• Educational workshops on gang involvement and drug exploitation 

• Arrests linked to theft and drugs 

Hertford 

• Focused on the night-time economy and violence against women and girls. 

• Delivered: 

• Project Vigilant deployments with plain-clothed officers 

Page 12



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   
• Bystander and door staff training 

• Licensing SAVI scheme uptake 

• Anti-spiking kits and awareness campaigns 

• Closure of a disorder-linked licensed premise 

 

Knife Angel and Youth Engagement 

Welwyn Garden City will host the Knife Angel in October 2025, launching a county-wide 

anti-violence programme: 

• The 27-foot sculpture made from 100,000 confiscated blades will be a focal point for 

public education and youth engagement. 

• Month-long programme includes: 

• Opening and closing ceremonies 

• Knife amnesty 

• Youth-led events, competitions, and outreach 

• Aimed at raising awareness, promoting peace, and preventing knife crime. 

 

Youth Commission on Policing and Crime 

The PCC has launched the Hertfordshire Youth Commission to engage young people aged 

14–25: 

• A core panel of up to 25 young people will be trained to gather views from peers 

across the county. 

• Focus areas: 

• Youth safety 

• Reducing youth offending 

• Improving relationships with police 

• Supporting young victims and witnesses 

• Recommendations will be presented directly to the PCC and Constabulary.  

 

Innovation and Targeted Interventions 

Page 13



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   
• Noise Camera Pilot launched in St Albans to tackle illegal street racing and antisocial 

driving. 

• Acoustic monitoring and camera technology will detect vehicles exceeding 

noise thresholds. 

• Offenders will receive warnings, with repeat offenders facing enforcement 

under Section 59. 

• Fly Tipping Fund continues to support private landowners, especially farmers, with 

clean-up and prevention measures. 

• £16.5k allocated in 2024/25; further funding committed for 2025/26.  

 

Community Safety and Serious Violence Funding 

• £43,000 awarded to nine local projects addressing: 

• ASB prevention 

• Violence against women and girls 

• Youth safety 

• £675,000 Serious Violence Duty funding confirmed for 2025/26. 

• Delivered via the County Community Safety Unit Strategic Chairs Board. 

• Supports mentoring, education, and intensive interventions for at-risk 

individuals. 

 

Performance and Accountability 

• Regular Accountability & Performance Meetings held publicly to scrutinise: 

• Neighbourhood policing uplift 

• Crime outcome improvements 

• Firearms licensing backlog 

• Public disorder response and online risk mitigation 

 

Countywide Stop and Search Update 

Each RAG plays a key role in reviewing the Stop & Search data, including complaints, for their 

own district. We hope that sharing data with you will improve transparency about how this 

coercive power has been used.  

Page 14



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   
The below data covers Stop & Searches undertaken over the last twelve months, from 1st 

July 2024 – 30th July 2025 (please note the data is subject to further finalisation).  

During this time there has been a 6% increase in the use of Stop & Search compared to the 

equivalent period of 1st July 2023 – 1st August 2024. Positive outcomes are up 4.3% and 

arrest rates are up 1.1%.  

There were some local differences in trends.  

Use of Stop & Search was up in 6 of the 10 CSPs – St Albans (+46%), Hertsmere (+44%), East 

Herts (+12%), Welwyn Hatfield (+16%), Broxbourne (+6%), North Herts (3%). 

However, over the same period East Herts, Hertsmere, Broxbourne, North Herts, and 

Welwyn Hatfield all saw increases in their positive outcome rates and arrests: 

• In East Herts, there was a 7.3% increase in positive outcome rate and 19% increase in 

arrests.  

• In Hertsmere, there was a 2.6% increase in positive outcome rate, and a 24% 

increase in arrests. 

• In Broxbourne, there was a 4.9% increase in positive outcome rate and no increase in 

arrest rate. 

• In North Herts, there was a 9.8% increase in positive outcome rate and a 19% 

increase in arrest rate. 

• In Welwyn Hatfield, there was a 2.6% increase in positive outcome rate and a 24% 

increase in arrest rate.  

Additionally, positive outcome rates were down in Three Rivers (-4.1%) and St Albans (-

0.1%). 

If you have any comments or questions about the data or information provided in this 

briefing, please email lucy.nicolson-james@herts-pcc.gov.uk. 

 

 

Figure 1 – Stop & Search volume by month in Hertfordshire, for period July 24 – July 25 

Page 15

mailto:lucy.nicolson-james@herts-pcc.gov.uk


 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   

 

Figure 2 – Stop & Search volume by district in Hertfordshire, for period July 24 – July 25 

 

 

Figure 3 – Arrest and positive disposal rates for Stop & Searches monthly in Hertfordshire, for 

period July 24 – July 25 

Page 16



 Briefing Note for Responsible Authority Groups  
September 2025 

   

 

Figure 4 – Positive outcome rates for Stop & Search by district in Hertfordshire, for period July 

24 – July 25 

 

 

For further information or to discuss partnership opportunities, visit: www.herts-pcc.gov.uk 

For funding enquiries: grants@herts-pcc.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 17

mailto:grants@herts-pcc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

-1- 

OFFICIAL – NO FOI RESTRICTIONS 

 

CCSU Monthly RAG Update  
 

 August 2025 

  
Community 
Safety & ASB  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) JSNA 
 
The CCSU are just starting on a refresh of the previous VAWG JSNA published in 2021. 
This will include a refresh of the public survey, which will be combined with consultation for 
the new upcoming VAWG Strategy with the Strategic Partnerships team. A working group 
will be set up to oversee progress of the JSNA. If you are interested in being a part of this 
working group or would like any other information on this work, please email 
vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
Child Exploitation 
 
The purpose of this JSNA is to explore the problem of criminal and sexual child exploitation, 
including modern slavery, cuckooing and county lines, and the scale of the problem in 
Hertfordshire. Child exploitation is a vast and nuanced topic, which ultimately must have the 
welfare and rehabilitation of the victims at its heart.  
 
This needs assessment has now been finalised and recommendations have now been 
approved by the CCSU Strategic Chairs based on the available evidence and research 
examined throughout the document. These recommendations are intended for 
commissioners, decision makers and partner organisations with a role in the management 
of children and young people at risk of exploitation or who have become victims.  
 
The final document has been circulated to all CSMs, however if you have not received the 
document or would like would like more information, please email 
rebecca.fuller@hertfordshire.gov.uk or vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk.  
 
Community safety and health intelligence products 
 
The CCSU work regularly with Public Health to produce joint intelligence products where 
crossovers between community safety and health exist (for example, mental health and 
substance misuse are key risk factors for criminality and exploitation). Recent examples 
include: 
 

 Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNAs (adults and children) 

 Co-occurring Mental Health & Substance Use JSNA Briefing 

 SEND JSNA  

 Ketamine-related harms Lite Bite 

 Health of people using substances Lite Bite 

 Adults Experiencing Multiple Disadvantages JSNA (nearing completion) 

 Adult Safeguarding (due to commence in autumn) 

 
Completed intelligence documents are usually published on the Hertfordshire Public Health 
JSNA website. If you would like any additional information on these, please email 
vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8

mailto:gary.ray@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.fuller@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:gary.ray@hertfordshire.gov.uk
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/jsna/jsna-documents.aspx?searchInput=&page=1&resultsPerPage=10&view=card
mailto:rebecca.fuller@hertfordshire.gov.uk


 
 

-2- 

OFFICIAL – NO FOI RESTRICTIONS 

 

 

Drugs, Alcohol 
and Criminal 
Justice 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Drugs, Alcohol 
and Criminal 
Justice 
 

Continued 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

All detainees that are arrested (or charged) for a trigger offence for the second time in a 12-
month period or are otherwise targeted through authorisation by the duty inspector, will be 
required to undertake an oral swab test for Class A drugs such as heroin and/or crack 
cocaine. Following a positive test, the offender is legally required to attend an initial required 
assessment (RA) & follow up assessment (FA). 
 
 

If you have any queries, please contact Alex Kweller at alex.kweller@hertfordshire.gov.uk  
 
Since October 2020 the following number of tests have been carried out across Stevenage 
& Hatfield Custody suites: 
 

CSP Positive Negative Refused Total 

Broxbourne 196 188 1 385 

Dacorum 504 416 2 922 

East Hertfordshire 199 185 0 384 

Hertsmere 208 245 0 453 

North Hertfordshire 196 190 0 386 

St Albans 288 246 1 535 

Stevenage 407 253 4 664 

Three Rivers 145 128 3 276 

Watford 428 275 4 707 

Welwyn Hatfield 395 384 7 786 

No fixed abode 253 105 22 380 

Out of County 1679 2486 19 4184 

Total 4958 5183 63 10204 

 
 

 
 
Drug & Alcohol Strategy 
 
The Drug & Alcohol Strategy 2025-30 has been published and is available to view at 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshire-drug-
and-alcohol-strategy-2025-30.pdf .   
 
CCSU will be leading on shaping the ‘Enforcement’ objectives of the strategy, with an early 
focus on cuckooing.  A cuckooing working group will be established to help standardise the 
cuckooing response countywide. 
 
If your CSP would like a presentation on the strategy, please contact 
michael.nadasdy@hertfordshire.gov.uk  
 
 
 
Drug and Alcohol Deaths surveillance 
 
The CCSU and Public Health are currently in the process of introducing a partnership drug 
and alcohol deaths surveillance system in Hertfordshire. This system has now been soft 
launched, having gone through rigorous assessment with partners. Key stakeholders who 
will input cases into the system are the police, CGL and HPFT.  
 

Page 20

mailto:alex.kweller@hertfordshire.gov.uk
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshire-drug-and-alcohol-strategy-2025-30.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshire-drug-and-alcohol-strategy-2025-30.pdf
mailto:michael.nadasdy@hertfordshire.gov.uk


 
 

-3- 

OFFICIAL – NO FOI RESTRICTIONS 

 

Work is ongoing to improve usage of the system among partners, including the introduction 
of a DARD Surveillance User Group which will be used as an opportunity for system users 
to feedback on their experiences of using the system and where improvements can be 
made to increase engagement across the county. 
 
Drug and Alcohol Deaths Audit 2024 
 
The annual Drug and Alcohol Deaths Audit report is now finalised. This report includes an 
overview of all death inquests concluded in 2024 to be due to drugs and/or alcohol. The 
report has been shared with all CSMs as is available to view here. 
 
If you would like any further information about this, please contact 
vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk or rebecca.fuller@hertfordshire.gov.uk  
 
Drugs and Alcohol needs assessments 
 
Work has now started on refreshing the existing Drugs and Alcohol JSNAs, last updated in 
2022. These needs assessments are being refreshed through a multi-agency working 
group. It is expected that these documents will be finalised in the Autumn. 
  
If you would like to know more about this, please email vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk. 
 
  

 
Hate Crime 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Serious Violence 
 

 
Hate Crime  
 
Hate Crime Awareness week will take place from the 11th of October - 18th October 20265 
and the theme for this year’s event in Hertfordshire is a focus on disability.  An event will 
take place on the 15th October at the Fielder Centre. We are hoping to have some of the 
wonderful charities that work within Hertfordshire attending on the day and Electric Umbrella 
who have been working on a disability awareness campaign.  If you know of anyone who 
would like to attend or give a talk on the day, please contact Helen Whitehead on 
helen.whitehead@herts.police.uk or Kate Moore Kate.Moore@hertfordshire.gov.uk for 
further information. 
 
Serious Violence Duty 
 
Guidance is available here: Serious Violence Duty - Statutory Guidance 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 
The Home Office Funding for the Serious Violence Duty has been allocated for 
2025/26.  Some of the projects awarded include: 
 

 Aspire Higher – a programme for males who are currently on probation with 
convictions for county lines/organised drug supply activity or are known to carry 
weapons, to help them tackle their criminality. 

 You Turn – specialise support for anyone 13+ carrying knives or involved in serious 
violence.  A structured 12-week intervention plan is offered. 

 REPS – Sport based interventions, building on existing work in Hertfordshire to 
tackle serious violence. 

 Several projects supporting the constabulary ‘Clear Hold Build’ programme. 
 
If anyone would like a full breakdown of the funded projects please email Karl Stonebank 
karl.stonebank@herts-pcc.gov.uk or Kate Moore Kate.Moore@hertfordshire.gov.uk for 
further information. 
 
 

Page 21

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/jsna/jsna-documents/da-deaths-audit-2024.pdf
mailto:vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.fuller@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:vicki.doyle@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:helen.whitehead@herts.police.uk
mailto:Kate.Moore@hertfordshire.gov.uk
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1125001%2FFinal_Serious_Violence_Duty_Statutory_Guidance_-_December_2022.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CMichael.Nadasdy%40hertfordshire.gov.uk%7Caa74ca71e209439069d308dddfe1c1b4%7C53e92c3666174e71a989dd739ad32a4d%7C0%7C0%7C638912882901558801%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=EQ1NImG9uqjX8hfKxN3ymFCqjTlNbYQ%2BtW0mEbcKKNo%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1125001%2FFinal_Serious_Violence_Duty_Statutory_Guidance_-_December_2022.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CMichael.Nadasdy%40hertfordshire.gov.uk%7Caa74ca71e209439069d308dddfe1c1b4%7C53e92c3666174e71a989dd739ad32a4d%7C0%7C0%7C638912882901558801%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=EQ1NImG9uqjX8hfKxN3ymFCqjTlNbYQ%2BtW0mEbcKKNo%3D&reserved=0
mailto:karl.stonebank@herts-pcc.gov.uk
mailto:Kate.Moore@hertfordshire.gov.uk


 
 

-4- 

OFFICIAL – NO FOI RESTRICTIONS 

 

The Youth Endowment Fund has awarded Hertfordshire a small amount of funding to join 
their Area Leaders Programme.  This will allow Hertfordshire to access good practice 
across the country and conduct a mapping exercise, to better understand the work that is in 
place around serious violence.  This work will commence in October 2025, and more 
information will be available in due course. 

 
  

 

Page 22


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES AND ACTIONS FROM THE PREVIOUS CONNECTING THREE RIVERS MEETING
	7 POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER UPDATE
	8 COUNTY COMMUNITY SAFETY UNIT

